
CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 

**Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate 
the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information to 
request this service, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 

 

MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Beloit City Plan Commission 

Wednesday, October 9, 2013 at 7:00 PM 
The Forum 

Beloit City Hall, First Floor 
100 State Street, Beloit 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the September 18, 2013 Meeting 

3. Comprehensive Plan Amendment – 903 and 911 East Grand Avenue 
Public hearing, review and consideration of an amendment to the Future Land Use Map of 
the City’s Comprehensive Plan from Office to Neighborhood Commercial for the properties 
located at 903 and 911 East Grand Avenue 

4. Zoning Map Amendment – 903 and 911 East Grand Avenue 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment from C-1, Office 
District, to C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the properties located at 903 and 
911 East Grand Avenue 

5. Conditional Use Permit – 856 Fourth Street 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow vehicle repair 
in the CBD-2, Central Business District-Fringe, for the property located at 856 Fourth Street  

6. Preliminary Subdivision Plat – Elmwood Commons 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a 38-lot Preliminary Subdivision Plat called 
Elmwood Commons for property located at 1715 Elmwood Avenue in an R-2, Two-Family 
Residential District 

7. Planned Unit Development – 2850 & 2900 Milwaukee Road and 1865 Branigan Road 
Public hearing, review and consideration of Planned Unit Development – Master Land Use 
Plan for the properties located at 2850 & 2900 Milwaukee Road and 1865 Branigan Road 

8. Zoning Map Amendment – 2850 & 2900 Milwaukee Road and 1865 Branigan Road 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the 
zoning district classification from C-3, Community Commercial District, to PUD, Planned 
Unit Development District, for the properties located at 2850 & 2900 Milwaukee Road and 
1865 Branigan Road 



 

9. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 

10. Adjournment 

If you are unable to attend this meeting, please contact Gail Riddle in the Planning Office at 
364-6700 no later than 4:00 PM the day before the meeting. 

Notice Mailed:  October 4, 2013 Approved: Julie Christensen  
  Community Development Director 



Page 1 of 2 

 

CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 

 
MINUTES 

BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
Wednesday, September 18, 2013  

The Forum, Beloit City Hall 
100 State Street, Beloit 

 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 
Chairperson Faragher called the meeting to order at 7:04 PM.  Gail Riddle called the roll.  
Present were Commissioners Jacobsen, Kelly, Nee, and Ruster.  Commissioners Moore and 
Kincaid were absent. 
 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the September 4, 2013 Meeting 
Commissioner Jacobsen moved and Commissioner Kelly seconded a motion to approve the 
September 4, 2013 minutes.  The minutes were approved (5-0). 
 

3. Architectural Review Exception – 105 Dearborn Street – Cornellier’s 
Public hearing, review and consideration of an Exception to Section 34.15(1) of the 
Architectural Review and Landscape Code to allow more than 25 percent of the exterior 
surface of the walls on a non-industrial building to be metal. 
 
Julie Christensen stated that after receiving the Staff report and Staff recommendation, the 
applicant withdrew their application for an Exception. 
 

4. Conditional Use Permit – 622 Broad Street 
Public hearing, review and consideration of an amendment to an existing Conditional Use 
Permit (CU-2007-13) to allow one additional room in an existing boarding house in a C-3, 
Community Commercial District, for the property located at 622 Broad Street. 
 
Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation. 
 
Chairperson Faragher opened the Public Hearing. 
 
Joshua Manthi, 1425 Holly Drive, Janesville, was present on behalf of Jerry Fagerstrom, the 
owner of the property.  Mr. Manthi commented that he does all the maintenance at 622 
Broad Street and that the plan is to divide the double room into one single room. 



Page 2 of 2 

 

Commissioner Nee asked for clarification on where the eight parking spaces were located.  
Ms. Christensen stated that staff would verify that there is the required number of parking 
spaces. 
 
Chairperson Faragher closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Commissioner Nee moved to approve the Conditional Use Permit with the staff 
recommendation and Commissioner Ruster seconded the motion.  The motion was 
approved (5-0). 
 

5. Conditional Use Permit – 201 Short Street – Rose’s 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow an outdoor 
seating area and outdoor sales, possession, and consumption of alcohol in a C-3, 
Community Commercial District, for the property located at 201 Short Street. 
 
Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Recommendation. 
 
After some discussion on the height of the fence, Chairperson Faragher opened and closed 
the Public Hearing. 
 
Following more discussion on the fence and greenery for 201 Short Street, the 
Commissioners decided to modify the staff-recommended conditions.  The Commission 
was concerned with how the outdoor seating area would look from Broad Street.   
 
Commissioner Nee moved to approve the Conditional Use Permit with an amendment for 
the fence height to be 4 feet and a minimum of two plants with live plant material being 
required on the outside corners of the fence.  Commissioner Kelly seconded the motion.   
The motion carried (5-0). 
 

6. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 
Julie Christensen reported that the City Council approved 1119 Broad Street Conditional 
Use Permit with a modification not to require the commercial grade window.  

7. Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 8:00 PM. 

 
 
 

 
 
 



October 9 Staff Report, Comprehensive Plan Amendments (903-911 E. Grand Avenue)

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: October 9, 2013 Agenda Item: 3 File Number: RPB-2013-11

Request Overview/Background Information:
William & Dianne Zawadzki have submitted an application requesting two amendments to the Future Land Use Map (Map 10)
of the City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan. Wisconsin’s Comprehensive Planning Law, §66.1001 of the Wisconsin Statutes, was
signed into law in 1999. Comprehensive Plans are intended to guide development and redevelopment over a 20-year
timeframe. The law also requires that land use decisions be consistent with the plan. The Beloit City Council approved the
City’s Comprehensive Plan in March 2008 and established a process for amendments (minor changes) to the Comprehensive
Plan on February 1, 2010. If the Plan Commission votes to recommend approval of the proposed amendments, the attached
Resolution will be forwarded to the City Council for consideration on November 18, 2013.

Key Issues:
 The applicants are requesting the following amendments to the Future Land Use Map (Map 10):

o 903 & 911 E. Grand Avenue – From Office to Neighborhood Commercial.
 The following table describes the status of the subject properties:

Property Current Use Zoning Ac Future Land Use Proposed Future Land Use
903 E. Grand Ave Nhbd Commercial C-1 0.19 Office Neighborhood Commercial
911 E. Grand Ave Vacant Building C-1 0.16 Office Neighborhood Commercial

 The applicants have also submitted a Zoning Map Amendment (rezoning to C-2) application for the subject properties.
 The applicants own the vacant commercial structure located at 911 E. Grand Avenue, which they are attempting to

lease to a retail sales-oriented business. Retail sales-oriented uses are prohibited in the C-1 district, but permitted by-
right in the C-2 district. Both properties are located in the WPO, Wellhead Protection Overlay District.

 When the applicants approached Planning staff regarding the possibility of rezoning their property to C-2, Planning
staff advised the applicant of the need to partner with an adjacent property owner to avoid a spot zoning situation.

 The owner of the adjacent commercial building located at 903 E. Grand Avenue co-signed the application. The 903
property has legal nonconforming status as a retail sales use in the C-1 district.

 Land Use Analysis
o The proposed amendments will create a small Neighborhood Commercial District at the intersection of two

arterial streets, adjacent to a large C-1, Office District. Surrounding uses include a park, office buildings, two-
family dwellings, and multi-family dwellings.

o The uses that are allowed in the Neighborhood Commercial district include a variety of retail sales & service
uses, as exemplified by the floral shop & home furnishings store already operating at 903 E. Grand Avenue.

o Potentially incompatible uses such as vehicle repair & taverns are not permitted in the C-2 district.
o Planning staff supports the establishment of a small commercial district in this location that will meet the

needs of the neighborhood, while utilizing an existing vacant structure.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:
 This request is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and supports Strategic Goal #5.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – The subject properties are within walking distance of existing dwellings.
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the following proposed amendments to the Future Land
Use Map (Map 10) of the City’s Comprehensive Plan:

1. 903 & 911 E. Grand Avenue – From Office to Neighborhood Commercial.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Future Land Use Map, Public Notice, Mailing List, and Resolution.



October 9 Staff Report, Comprehensive Plan Amendments (903-911 E. Grand Avenue)



October 9 Staff Report, Comprehensive Plan Amendments (903-911 E. Grand Avenue)

Map 10, Future Land Use (Subject Properties Are Circled)



October 9 Staff Report, Comprehensive Plan Amendments (903-911 E. Grand Avenue)



October 9 Staff Report, Comprehensive Plan Amendments (903-911 E. Grand Avenue)



RESOLUTION
RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF AMENDMENTS TO THE

CITY OF BELOIT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit recommended approval of the
Comprehensive Plan of the City of Beloit (the Plan) on January 23, 2008, and the City Council of the
City of Beloit approved an Ordinance adopting the Plan on March 17, 2008; and

WHEREAS, the Plan may be amended and changed in the years following adoption,
particularly in instances where the Plan is becoming irrelevant or contradictory to emerging policies
or trends, or does not provide specific advice or guidance on an emerging issue; and

WHEREAS, “Amendments” are generally defined as minor changes to the Plan’s maps or
text; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Beloit approved a Resolution to Adopt a Process
for Amending the City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan on February 1, 2010; and

WHEREAS, the approved process directs the Plan Commission to hold a public meeting on
the proposed amendments, and following said public meeting, make a recommendation by
Resolution to the City Council by majority vote of the entire Commission.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit,
Rock County, Wisconsin, hereby recommends approval of the following amendments to the Future
Land Use Map (Map 10) of the City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan:

1. 903 & 911 E. Grand Avenue – From Office to Neighborhood Commercial.

Adopted this 9th day of October, 2013.

James Faragher, Plan Commission Chairman
ATTEST:

Julie Christensen,
Community Development Director



October 9 Staff Report, ZMA, 903-911 E. Grand Avenue

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: October 9, 2013 Agenda Item: 4 File Number: ZMA-2013-12
Applicant: William & Dianne Zawadzki Owner: Ronald & Lily Dickinson and

William & Dianne Zawadzki
Location: 903 & 911 E. Grand Avenue

Current Zoning: C-1, Office District &
WPO, Wellhead Protection Overlay

Existing Land Use: Neighborhood
Commercial & Vacant

Parcel Size: 0.19 Acre & 0.16 Acre

Request Overview/Background Information:
William & Dianne Zawadzki have submitted an application for a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district
classification from C-1, Office District to C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the properties located at 903 & 911 E.
Grand Avenue. The attached Location & Zoning Map shows the location of the subject properties and the zoning of the
surrounding area. The Zoning Ordinance directs the Plan Commission to make a recommendation regarding a Zoning Map
Amendment when the specific site and context are suitable for the uses permitted in the proposed zoning district.

Key Issues:
 The applicants own the vacant commercial structure located at 911 E. Grand Avenue, which they are attempting to

lease to a retail sales-oriented business, which is prohibited in the C-1 district, but permitted by-right in the C-2 district.
 The C-2 district is primarily intended to accommodate neighborhood-oriented retail sales & service uses.
 When the applicants approached Planning staff regarding the possibility of rezoning their property to C-2, Planning

staff advised the applicant of the need to partner with an adjacent property owner to avoid a spot zoning situation.
 The owner of the adjacent commercial building located at 903 E. Grand Avenue co-signed the application. The 903

property has legal nonconforming status as a retail sales use in the C-1 district.
 The applicants also submitted an application to amend the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map to

recommend Neighborhood Commercial uses and C-2 zoning classification for the subject properties.
 Planning staff posted an informational sign on the subject properties and mailed the attached Public Notice to the

owners of nearby properties. The property owner to the east of the subject properties supports this request.
 Findings of Fact - Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance:

a. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property;
 The proposed C-2 district is compatible with and will serve the neighborhood, which includes a mix of two- and

multi-family residential and parkland. Neighborhood commercial uses are already established at the 903 site.
b. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property;

 The proposed C-2 district is compatible with the adjacent C-1 & PLI districts.
c. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification; and

 The properties are relatively small with small off-street parking lots, and are suitable for C-1 or C-2 uses.
d. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject property.

 The properties at 427-431 Park Avenue were rezoned to PUD (office/residential) in 2009, and the entire block
to the south was rezoned from CBD-2 to C-1 in 2008. The Clark Station is being redeveloped one block south.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:
The applicant’s Comprehensive Plan amendments are being reviewed concurrently, which supports Strategic Goal #5.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – The subject properties are within walking distance of existing dwellings.
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
Based upon the above Findings of Fact and the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the Planning & Building Services Division
recommends approval of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district classification from C-1, Office District to C-2,
Neighborhood Commercial District, for the properties located at 903 & 911 E. Grand Avenue.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Photos, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List.



October 9 Staff Report, ZMA, 903-911 E. Grand Avenue



October 9 Staff Report, ZMA, 903-911 E. Grand Avenue



October 9 Staff Report, ZMA, 903-911 E. Grand Avenue



October 9 Staff Report, ZMA, 903-911 E. Grand Avenue



October 9 Staff Report, ZMA, 903-911 E. Grand Avenue



October 9 Staff Report, ZMA, 903-911 E. Grand Avenue



October 9 Staff Report, CUP, 856 Fourth Street

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: October 9, 2013 Agenda Item: 5 File Number: CU-2013-17

Applicant: Butitta Bros. Auto Services Owner: JLT LLC Location: 856 Fourth Street

Existing Zoning: CBD-2, Central
Business District – Fringe

Existing Land Use: Vacant Building Total Area: 0.57 Acre

Request Overview/Background Information:
Jon Thompson of Butitta Bros. Automotive Services has filed an application for a Conditional Use Permit to allow vehicle repair
in the CBD-2, Central Business District – Fringe, for the property located at 856 Fourth Street.

Key Issues:
 This property is the former Vic Hansen’s dealership, and has been vacant since that business closed in 2011.
 The applicant recently purchased the subject property and intends to operate a full-scale repair shop, with tire sales as

an accessory use. Vehicle repair is a conditional use in the CBD-2 district.
 The attached Location & Zoning Map shows the location of the subject property and the underlying zoning of the

surrounding area. The adjacent zoning and land uses are as follows:
o North: C-3, Community Commercial District; Commercial (Restaurant)
o South: CBD-2, Central Business District – Fringe; Commercial (Retail Sales)
o East: CBD-2, Central Business District – Fringe; Commercial (Retail Sales)
o West: CBD-2, Central Business District – Fringe; Commercial (Tavern)

 The subject property includes one driveway on Portland Avenue and one driveway on Fourth Street.
 The subject property includes a 6,228 square-foot building that was constructed in 1956 and a detached shed. The

building includes one overhead door on the west side, along with extensive Vic Hansen’s signage to be removed.
 The surface parking lot extends to the northern and eastern property lines, and looks bare and outdated when

compared to the landscaped sites to the north (Tilley’s) and east (Advance). Planning staff is recommending a
condition of approval that will require landscape strips along the northern and eastern perimeter, which will improve the
appearance of this highly visible parking area.

 Due its prior use, the surface parking area is not striped. Planning staff is recommending a condition of approval that
will require the applicant to stripe the parking stalls & accessible aisles in accordance with the Zoning Ordinance.

 According to Section 8-103 of the Zoning Ordinance, the subject property must include 4 off-street parking stalls per
service bay and 2 off-street parking stalls per employee. The subject property meets these requirements.

 The Fire Department has reviewed this request and has recommended conditions dealing with tanks and tires.
 The City’s other Review Agents have reviewed this application and have not submitted any comments or concerns.
 The attached Public Notice was sent to six nearby property owners. Staff has not received any comments or concerns.
 Findings of Fact

Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a recommendation based on
the following considerations:

a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be detrimental to or
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;

 Subject to certain conditions of approval, the proposed conditional use will not be detrimental to
or endanger public health, safety, or welfare.

b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate
vicinity for purposes already permitted;

 The proposed use is compatible with the auto-oriented sites and products/services along the
Fourth Street corridor.

c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood
of the subject property;

 The occupancy and improvement of the subject property is expected to have a positive impact
upon property values in the area.

d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly development and
improvement of the surrounding property;

 The establishment of the conditional use will not impede nearby development, so long as the site
is repaired/upgraded as recommended by staff.



October 9 Staff Report, CUP, 856 Fourth Street

e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so dissimilar or
otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate neighborhood that it will
cause a depreciation in property values;

 This is an existing, developed site. However, Planning staff will review all exterior alterations
during the Architectural Review process to ensure compatibility with the neighborhood.

f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be available to serve
the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use;

 Adequate facilities and infrastructure are available to serve the conditional use.
g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and

 The existing street network is capable of handling any additional traffic generated by the
conditional use.

h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance.
 The conditional use will comply with all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:
The City’s Comprehensive Plan recommends Planned Mixed Use for the subject property, which is intended to guide the future
redevelopment of this corridor. Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow vehicle repair in the
CBD-2, Central Business District – Fringe, for the property located at 856 Fourth Street, based on the above Findings of Fact
and subject to the following conditions:

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes vehicle repair within the existing building, but vehicle repair may not occur
outside of the building.

2. Junk vehicles (as defined in Chapter 7) shall not be stored outside.
3. Vehicles may not be sold on site unless the applicant obtains an auto dealer’s license from the State of Wisconsin.
4. All trash & recycling containers shall be enclosed in accordance with the Architectural Review Code.
5. The applicant shall stripe the lot in accordance with Section 8-113 of the Zoning Ordinance by November 15, 2013.
6. The applicant shall install landscape strips (as defined & specified in Chapter 34) along the perimeter of the asphalt

parking lot facing Portland Avenue and Fourth Street by November 15, 2013.
7. All Vic Hansen’s signs shall be removed from the building and site by November 15, 2013.
8. All fuel tanks shall comply with SPS 310 and all tire storage shall comply with Chapters 33 & 34.8 of NFPA 1.
9. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission and

City Council by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning & Building Services may approve
minor changes administratively.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Photos, Application, Site Sketch, Public Notice, and Mailing List.



October 9 Staff Report, CUP, 856 Fourth Street



October 9 Staff Report, CUP, 856 Fourth Street



October 9 Staff Report, CUP, 856 Fourth Street



October 9 Staff Report, CUP, 856 Fourth Street



October 9 Staff Report, CUP, 856 Fourth Street



October 9 Staff Report, CUP, 856 Fourth Street



October 9 Staff Report, CUP, 856 Fourth Street



CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date:
October 9, 2013

Agenda Item:
6

File Number:
PS-2013-01

Applicant:
Jack Meyers, Elmwood Commons, LLC

Owner:
Elmwood Commons, LLC

Location:
1715 Elmwood Avenue

Existing Zoning:
R-2, Two-family Residential District

Existing Land Use:
Vacant Residential Land

Platted Area:
14.4 Acres

Request Overview/Background Information:
Jack Meyers, on behalf of Elmwood Commons, LLC, has submitted an application for review of a Preliminary Subdivision Plat and
a Preliminary Plat named Elmwood Commons for the property located at 1715 Elmwood Avenue. This 38-lot residential
subdivision is located in the R-2, Two-family Residential District. A copy of the Preliminary Plat is attached to this report.

The attached Location and Zoning Map shows the location of the platted area hatched in yellow. The adjacent zoning and land
uses are as follows:

North: R-1A, Single-family Residential District: Vacant Residential Land
South: R-1A, Single-family Residential District: Single-family Dwellings and Vacant Residential Land
East: R-3, Low-density Multi-family Residential District: Single-family Dwelling, Two-family Dwellings, and Low-rise

Apartment Buildings
West: B3, General Business District; and I1, Light Industrial District (Town of Beloit Zoning): Business and Industrial uses

According to Section 12.03(2)(e) of the Subdivision Ordinance, the Plan Commission may approve, conditionally approve, or reject
any preliminary plat within the City.

Key Issues:
 The Preliminary Plat

o The Plat includes 38 residential lots in the R-2, Two-family Residential (Zoning) District. Therefore, the plat has
the potential for 76 dwelling units.

o The minimum lot width in the R-2 district is 70 feet. Lot 31 does not meet this requirement as the lot width is only
56.87 feet.

o The minimum lot size is 8,750 square feet. All of the lots meet this requirement.
o Out Lot 1 is located on the southwest corner of the property and will be used for storm water detention.
o Out Lot 2 is located on the northwest corner of the property and will be dedicated to the public for parks and open

space. The Plat must include a note that indicates that this lot will be dedicated to the public. The Parks,
Recreation, and Conservation Advisory Commission will review this Plat at the meeting on October 9, 2013.

o The Plat includes a 25-foot wide landscape buffer along the south side of Lots 1 and 22-25 and Out Lot 1 (the
north side of Elmwood Drive) and along the west side of Lots 26-31 and Out Lots 1 and 2 (the east side of the
railroad tracks).

o The Plat includes 10-foot wide utility easements on Lots 1-8, Lots 22-36, and Out Lots 1 and 2.
o The Plat includes four streets: Kadlec Drive, Meghan Drive, Independent Drive, and Elaine Drive.
o The Plat does not include any sidewalks; however, the Subdivision Ordinance requires sidewalks be constructed

on at least one side of all minor streets. Sidewalks will be addressed in the Development Agreement.
 The applicant has submitted a Site Assessment Checklist, which are attached to this report.
 Public facilities and infrastructure exist in this area and the properties receive the full range of municipal services.
 Review Agents Comments:

o Planning Division
 The Subdivision Ordinance requires that sidewalks be provided on one side of the street on minor streets

with a 60-foot wide right-of-way. Sidewalks must be shown on the Plat along the west side of Kadlec
Drive from the northern end of Lot 36 to the southern end of Lot 22. Additionally, sidewalks must be
shown on the Plat along the south side of Meghan Drive, along the west side of Independent Drive, and
along the north side of Elaine Drive.

 A Development Agreement will need to be submitted by the applicant and approved prior to recording a
Final Plat for this subdivision. The Development Agreement will create a schedule and assign



responsibility for the proposed public improvements included in the Plat.
 The note about the landscape buffer does not include language regarding the number or type of

landscape materials to be planted. The note should also state “25 landscape units per lineal foot of the
buffer shall be planted, and the proposed landscape plan must be reviewed and approved by the
Planning and Building Services Division prior to planting.”

o Water Resources Division
 There is a sanitary easement on the west side of this property that will need to be maintained.

o Charter Communications
 There is concern with the lack of easements for lots 9-21. Developer needs to distinguish how these lots

will have access for services.
o Staff will forward these requests to the applicant, and they will be formally addressed during the Final Plat phase.
o The other Review Agents have reviewed the Preliminary Plat and do not have any comments or concerns

regarding the proposed lots.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:

o The Comprehensive Land Use Plan designates this property as appropriate for “Planned Neighborhood” uses, which
includes a mix of single-family, two-family, mixed residential, community and service uses, office, neighborhood
commercial, and parks and open space.

o Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Sustainability: (Briefly comment on the sustainable long term impact of this policy or program related to how it will impact
both the built and natural environment utilizing the four following eco-municipality guidelines)

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – The development of this parcel will

connect existing roadways and infrastructure, meeting the present needs of the neighborhood. Additionally, future needs
of the community will be met by offering diverse housing opportunities and increasing the municipal tax base.

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat named Elmwood Commons based on
its consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning Ordinance, subject to the following conditions:

1. The Final Plat shall substantially conform to the approved Preliminary Plat with respect to the number of lots, lot sizes, and
the proposed right-of-way layout.

2. Lots 31 must have at least 70 feet of street frontage.
3. Out Lot 2 must include a note that indicates the lot will be dedicated to the public.
4. Sidewalks must be shown along the west side of Kadlec Drive, along the south side of Meghan Drive, along the west side

of Independent Drive, and along the north side of Elaine Drive.
5. The landscape buffer note must include language requiring that 25 landscape units per lineal foot of the buffer must be

planted, and the landscape plan must be reviewed and approved by the Planning and Building Services Division prior to
planting.

6. The Plat must include a note stating that there is no vehicular access permitted from Out Lot 1, Lot 1, and Lots 22-25 to
Elmwood Avenue.

7. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission. The
Community Development Director may approve minor changes administratively.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact:
N/A

Attachments:
Location & Zoning Map, Preliminary Plat, Public Notice, Mailing List, Application, Site Assessment Checklist, and Resolution.







NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC

September 26, 2013

To Whom It May Concern:

The City of Beloit has received an application from Jack Meyers, on behalf of Elmwood Commons, LLC, requesting
review and approval of a preliminary subdivision plat for a proposed 38-lot single and two-family residential
subdivision on the property located at:

1715 Elmwood Avenue.

A copy of the proposed Preliminary Plat of Elmwood Commons is attached to this notice.

The following public hearing will be held regarding this proposed subdivision plat:

City of Beloit Plan Commission: Wednesday, October 9, 2013 at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can
be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street, Beloit, Wisconsin.

THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND THIS HEARING.

We are interested in your opinion.

Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring ten (10) copies and submit them to the
Recording Secretary before the meeting begins. Staff is unable to leave the meeting area to make copies.

For additional information, please contact Stephanie Hummel in the Planning and Building Services Division at
(608) 364-6708 or hummels@ci.beloit.wi.us. Comments will be accepted via telephone, email, and U.S. Mail.













RESOLUTION
APPROVING A PRELIMINARY SUBDIVISION PLAT

NAMED ELMWOOD COMMONS IN THE CITY OF BELOIT

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has heretofore held a public
hearing on October 9, 2013 regarding the Preliminary Subdivision Plat named Elmwood Commons
located at 1715 Elmwood Commons in the City of Beloit.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of
Beloit does hereby approve the Preliminary Subdivision Plat named Elmwood Commons, subject to
the following conditions:

1. The Final Plat shall substantially conform to the approved Preliminary Plat with respect to
the number of lots, lot sizes, and the proposed right-of-way layout.

2. Lots 31 must have at least 70 feet of street frontage.
3. Out Lot 2 must include a note that indicates the lot will be dedicated to the public.
4. Sidewalks must be shown along the west side of Kadlec Drive, along the south side of

Meghan Drive, along the west side of Independent Drive, and along the north side of Elaine
Drive.

5. The landscape buffer note must include language requiring that 25 landscape units per lineal
foot of the buffer must be planted, and the landscape plan must be reviewed and approved by
the Planning and Building Services Division prior to planting.

6. The Plat must include a note stating that there is no vehicular access permitted from Out Lot
1, Lot 1, and Lots 22-25 to Elmwood Avenue.

7. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the
Plan Commission. The Community Development Director may approve minor changes
administratively.

Adopted this 9th day of October, 2013.

By:
James Faragher, Plan Commission Chair

ATTEST:

Julie Christensen, Community Development Director



CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: October 9, 2013 Agenda Item: 7 File Number: PUD-2013-02

Applicant: Commercial Property
Group

Owner: McBain Enterprises, Inc. Location: 2850, 2900 Milwaukee
Road; 1865 Branigan Road

Existing Zoning: C-3, Community
Commercial District; MRO, Milwaukee
Road Overlay

Existing Land Use: Fast Food,
Vacant Lots

Parcel Size:
2850: 1.3780 Acres
2900: .5544 Acres
1865: .7730 Acres
Total: 2.7054 Acres

Request Overview/Background Information:
Commercial Property Group, on behalf of McBain Enterprises, Inc., has submitted an application for review and
consideration of a Planned Unit Development (PUD) - Master Land Use Plan for the properties located at 2850/2900
Milwaukee Road and 1865 Branigan Road. A copy of the PUD - Master Land Use Plan is attached to this report.

The PUD District is a special-purpose zoning district that permits greater flexibility in land planning and site design than
conventional zoning districts and is intended to provide flexibility in architectural design and clustering of buildings. The
process begins with submittal of a PUD – Master Land Use Plan, which is a conceptual plan. The PUD process also
involves rezoning the subject property to PUD, either during or after consideration of the PUD – Master Land Use Plan.

Key Issues:
 The subject properties are currently zoned C-3, Community Commercial. If the requested PUD – Master Land

Use Plan is approved, the applicant will need to rezone the subject properties to PUD.
 All properties around these parcels are zoned C-3, Community Commercial District with most land uses either

restaurant or hotel.
 This proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan involves creating a development with multiple uses in up to four (4)

buildings including restaurants, office, and retail space.
 Arby’s restaurant, which is currently located at 2900 Milwaukee Road, will be moved into a new strip

development. The PUD is necessary in order to develop the new strip centers on one parcel.
 This development is proposed to consist of a 9,000 square-foot strip center with drive-through and outdoor

seating area for the new Arby’s, a 6,000 square-foot strip center with no drive-through access, and an 8,425
square-foot strip center with no drive-through access. The existing Arby’s building will remain. Although all drive-
through uses require a Conditional Use Permit, Planning staff is recommending a condition of approval that will
consolidate the CUP process with this PUD.

 Planning and Engineering Staff have reviewed the proposed driveways and traffic circulation. Between the
existing Arby’s site and the proposed Arby’s site are traffic control challenges. A discussed solution would be for
the aisle between these properties be a one-way, North-only traffic with angled parking along the existing Arby’s
building. The developers are hesitant to remove two-way traffic from this aisle due to easy access to the existing
Arby’s building. Planning Staff is also recommending a bypass lane be provided for the existing Arby’s.

 According to Section 8-112 of the Zoning Ordinance, a restaurant drive-through must have five stacking spaces
before the order box and three stacking spaces between the order box and pick-up window. The proposed drive-
through includes adequate stacking spaces.

 The City’s review agents have reviewed the proposed PUD and have not submitted any comments.
 Section 5-305 of the Zoning Ordinance requires the City Council to establish development standards during the

PUD process. Development standards are addressed in the Staff Recommendation section of this report.

 Section 2-402(g) of the Zoning Ordinance allows for the approval of a PUD - Master Land Use Plan if the
following five criteria can be met:

o The plan represents an improvement over what could have been accomplished through strict
application of otherwise applicable standards, based on the purpose and intent of the Zoning
Ordinance. The proposed plan allows flexibility in site design, specifically development of multi-use
facilities on the same parcel, which would not be possible through strict interpretation of the Zoning
Ordinance.



o The PUD - Master Land Use Plan complies with the standards of Section 5-300. The PUD - Master
Land Use Plan complies with the standards of Section 5-300.

o Service providers will be able to provide necessary public services, facilities, and programs to
serve the development proposed. Service providers will be able to provide necessary services,
facilities, and programs to serve the development. The review agents have been notified and have not
raised objections.

o The development is consistent with and implements the planning goals and objectives contained
in the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted policies and documents. See the consistency section
below.

o The PUD - Master Land Use Plan is consistent with sound planning practice and the development
will promote the general welfare of the community. Subject to certain conditions of approval, the
proposed PUD will improve the appearance of the subject property while enhancing commercial
development, connectivity between parcels, and accessibility.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:
The Comprehensive Plan recommends Community Commercial uses of the subject property. The PUD is consistent with
the goals, objectives, and policies contained in the Comprehensive Plan. Consideration of this request supports Strategic
Goal #5.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – Planning staff is recommending conditions of approval that will

accommodate bike riders.
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – This project is expected to

have a positive impact upon all stakeholders.

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the PUD - Master Land Use Plan for the properties
located at 2850, 2900 Milwaukee Road and 1865 Branigan Road, based on its consistency with the Zoning Ordinance
and subject to the following conditions:

1. This approval authorizes the development of 3 separate strip centers for multiple land uses and retention of an
existing restaurant building on one parcel for the properties located at 2850, 2900 Milwaukee Road and 1865
Branigan Road.

2. The parcels shall be combined through application with the City’s Assessor prior to issuance of permits.
3. The proposed drive-through is hereby approved, and a separate Conditional Use Permit is not required.
4. A bypass lane shall be provided to the east of the stacking spaces for the property at 2900 Milwaukee Road.
5. For allowable use & dimensional standard purposes, the regulations applicable in the C-3, Community

Commercial District shall apply to the subject property.
6. For outdoor sign purposes, the development may have one (1) primary and five (5) secondary signs per building.
7. The applicant shall provide a bike rack near the northern most development that can accommodate at least 4

bicycles.
8. Parking capacities must comply with ordinances once site is developed.
9. Prior to issuance of a Building Permit for this project, the applicant shall rezone the subject property to PUD.

Architectural Review and Site Plan Review will be needed for each phase of development.
10. The proposed outdoor seating area will need a separate Conditional Use Permit.
11. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission

and City Council by amending this PUD – Master Land Use Plan. The Director of Planning & Building Services
may approve minor changes administratively and allow accessory structures and uses that comply with and meet
all of the standards and requirements of the City of Beloit Municipal Code.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Photos, PUD – Master Land Use Plan, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List.

















NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC

September 26, 2013

To Whom It May Concern:

Commercial Property Group, on behalf of McBain Enterprises, Inc., has submitted applications
for review and consideration of a Planned Unit Development (PUD) - Master Land Use Plan and
Zoning Map Amendment for the properties located at:

2850, 2900 Milwaukee Road and 1865 Branigan.

This proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan involves rezoning these lots to create a
development that would include restaurants, office, and retail spaces. The subject property is
currently zoned C-3, Community Commercial. If the requested PUD – Master Land Use Plan is
approved, the subject property will be rezoned to PUD. A copy of the PUD - Master Land Use
Plan is attached to this notice.

The following public hearings will be held regarding this proposed PUD - Master Land Use Plan
and Zoning Map Amendment:

City Plan Commission: Wednesday, October 9, 2013, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the
matter can be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street.

City Council: Monday, October 21, 2013, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can be
heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street.

THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND THESE HEARINGS.

We are interested in your opinion.

Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring ten (10) copies and
submit them to the Recording Secretary before the meeting begins. Staff is unable to leave the
meeting area to make copies.

For additional information, please contact Stephanie Hummel in the Planning & Building
Services Division at (608) 364-6708 or hummels@ci.beloit.wi.us. Comments will be accepted
via telephone, email, and U.S. Mail.



CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: October 9, 2013 Agenda Item: 8 File Number: ZMA-2013-13

Applicant: Commercial Property
Group

Owner: McBain Enterprises, Inc. Location: 2850, 2900 Milwaukee
Road and 1865 Branigan Road

Current Zoning: C-3, Community
Commercial District; MRO- Milwaukee
Road Overlay
Proposed Zoning: PUD, Planned Unit
Development; MRO- Milwaukee Road
Overlay

Existing Land Use: Fast Food and
Vacant Land

Parcel Size:
2850: 1.3780 Acres
2900: .5544 Acres
1865: .7730 Acres
Total: 2.7054 Acres

Request Overview/Background Information:
Commercial Property Group, on behalf of McBain Enterprises, Inc., has submitted an application for a Zoning Map
Amendment to change the zoning district classification from C-3, Community Commercial District to PUD, Planned Unit
Development, for the properties located at 2850, 2900 Milwaukee Road and 1865 Branigan Road.

Key Issues:
 The applicant intends to market the subject properties for restaurants, office, and retail.
 The C-3 district is intended to accommodate community-oriented retail sales and service uses. The PUD district is

a special purpose zoning district that permits greater flexibility for land planning and site design.
 The property located at 2850 Milwaukee Road is 1.378 acres. The property located at 2900 Milwaukee Road is

.5544 acres. The property located at 1865 Branigan Road is .773 acres.
 This application is being considered in accordance with the Zoning Map Amendment procedures contained in

Section 2-300 of the Zoning Ordinance.
 The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map recommends Community Commercial uses for the subject

properties.
 The attached Location & Zoning Map shows the location of the subject properties and the zoning of the

surrounding area. All surrounding properties are zoned C-3, Community Commercial with most land uses as
either restaurant or hotel.

 Planning staff mailed the attached Public Notice to the owners of nearby properties. As of this writing, staff has
not received any comments.

 Findings of Fact - Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a
recommendation based on the following considerations:

a. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property;
 The subject properties are located in the center of a Community Commercial District. The

uses for nearby properties include restaurants, hotels, retail, and office. The proposed uses
are compatible with existing and planned uses within the general area.

b. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property;
 The subject properties are in the center of a C-3, Community Commercial District. The

proposed PUD would retain underlying C-3 use regulations.

c. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification;
and

 The subject properties are suitable for the uses permitted in the C-3 district.

d. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject property.
 The Milwaukee Road area is fast-developing commercial area of the city. Recent

developments include Qdoba Mexican Grill, US Cellular, and the Cancer Center.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:
The Comprehensive Plan recommends Community Commercial uses. This proposed Zoning Map Amendment is
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, as required by Section 66.1001(3) of Wisconsin Statutes.



Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Sustainability: (Briefly comment on the sustainable long term impact of this policy or program related to how it will impact
both the built and natural environment utilizing the four following eco-municipality guidelines)

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
Based upon the above Findings of Fact and the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the Planning & Building Services Division
recommends approval of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district classification from C-3 Community
Commercial District to PUD, Planned Unit Development, for the properties located at 2850, 2900 Milwaukee Road and
1865 Branigan Road.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Photos, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List.















NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC

September 26, 2013

To Whom It May Concern:

Commercial Property Group, on behalf of McBain Enterprises, Inc., has submitted applications
for review and consideration of a Planned Unit Development (PUD) - Master Land Use Plan in a
C-3, Community Commercial District and a Zoning Map Amendment to rezone to PUD for the
properties located at:

2850, 2900 Milwaukee Road, 1865 Branigan Road

This proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan involves rezoning these lots to create a
development that would include restaurants, office, and retail spaces. The subject property is
currently zoned C-3, Community Commercial. If the requested PUD – Master Land Use Plan is
approved, the will be rezoned to PUD. A copy of the PUD - Master Land Use Plan is attached to
this notice.

The following public hearings will be held regarding this proposed PUD - Master Land Use Plan
and Zoning Map Amendment:

City Plan Commission: Wednesday, October 9, 2013, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the
matter can be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street.

City Council: Monday, October 21, 2013, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can be
heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street.

THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND THESE HEARINGS.

We are interested in your opinion.

Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring ten (10) copies and
submit them to the Recording Secretary before the meeting begins. Staff is unable to leave the
meeting area to make copies.

For additional information, please contact Stephanie Hummel in the Planning & Building
Services Division at (608) 364-6708 or hummel@ci.beloit.wi.us. Comments will be accepted
via telephone, email, and U.S. Mail.


	Public hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment from C-1, Office District, to C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the properties located at 903 and 911 East Grand Avenue
	1.
	2.
	3.
	4.
	5. Conditional Use Permit – 856 Fourth Street
	Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow vehicle repair in the CBD-2, Central Business District-Fringe, for the property located at 856 Fourth Street
	Public hearing, review and consideration of Planned Unit Development – Master Land Use Plan for the properties located at 2850 & 2900 Milwaukee Road and 1865 Branigan Road
	8. Zoning Map Amendment – 2850 & 2900 Milwaukee Road and 1865 Branigan Road
	Public hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district classification from C-3, Community Commercial District, to PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the properties located at 2850 & 2900 Milwaukee Roa...
	5.
	6.
	7.
	8.
	9. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items

